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            A NOTE ON THE SOURCES

         

         Unless otherwise footnoted, all the quotes in this book are taken from interviews conducted both on and off the record during the summer and autumn of 2016. For ease of reference, individuals are referred to by their titles at the time the action of the book takes place, rather than those they currently hold.

      

   


   
      
         

            PREFACE

         

         Theresa May was sitting in an ante-room preparing to go on stage when one of her closest aides, Fiona Hill, walked into the room with a mobile phone. The caller was bearing the most important news May would ever receive. It was 10 a.m. on Monday 11 July 2016, and the Home Secretary was getting ready to launch her campaign for the leadership of the Conservative Party. The reward for victory would be the greatest prize in British politics: to become Prime Minister of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. With May in the side room at the IET Birmingham Austin Court, a fashionable wedding venue and conference centre in the heart of the Second City, were her husband, Philip May, and Liam Fox, a long-time friend and former Defence Secretary, who was due to introduce her on stage. All three were immediately struck by the portentous look on Hill’s face as much as by the words she spoke, as she informed May that Andrea Leadsom, her last remaining rival in the leadership race, wanted to speak to her urgently.

         May glanced at the two men and quietly asked them to leave the room. Hill handed the phone over to the woman who had become her friend and mentor as well as her boss, and withdrew too, leaving May alone. In the long minutes that followed, the three waiting outside did not speculate out loud about what was taking place on the other side of the door, but it was impossible for their thoughts not to race ahead of them. Four days earlier, it had emerged that the contest for the Conservative leadership would come down to a straight fight between Leadsom and May. The race had been triggered on 24 June by the sudden resignation of David Cameron following the shock outcome of the referendum on Britain’s membership of the European Union, in which the Prime Minister’s Remain side had narrowly been beaten. The intervening sixteen days had seen a brutal bloodletting, with all the main contenders and expected favourites for the crown falling one by one until only Leadsom and May were left standing. The pair were now about to embark on a nine-week campaign before a ballot would take place of Conservative Party members. The result of the contest would be announced on 9 September.

         Three days before May travelled to Birmingham to officially launch her campaign, Leadsom had given an interview in which she appeared to suggest that she was more in touch with voters’ concerns than her rival because, unlike May, she was a mother. While Leadsom insisted her words had been taken out of context, she found herself facing a bruising barrage of criticism, with commentators and fellow politicians questioning her judgement. Shortly after the article appeared, she was forced to issue a humiliating apology to her rival. It had been the worst possible start to Leadsom’s campaign and a boon to May, who maintained her dignity by refusing to respond. Now Leadsom was making a highly unexpected private telephone call to her fellow candidate – and those waiting outside the door could only wonder what it meant.

         After a few minutes, May opened the door and invited Philip and Liam Fox back into the room. She said nothing about the phone conversation, and they did not ask what had transpired. May seemed perfectly calm and collected; her usual self, in fact. As always, she was immaculately turned out, in a navy zip-up jacket and matching skirt. Her shoes, inevitably the focus of attention, were red velvet with gold tips, and there were pearls at her ears and around her neck. If her companions had been wondering about the significance of Leadsom’s phone call, they were no clearer now that they were back in the room with May. Her face gave away nothing. The three spent the next twenty minutes chatting quietly and making a few last-minute revisions to May’s speech. At around 10.30 a.m., Fiona Hill returned to invite the group to enter the darkly intimate main hall of the IET so that the event could begin. Philip took a seat in the front row as Fox began his short introduction.

         Then, just before 11 a.m., it was May’s turn to speak. She formally launched her campaign with words which would later become famous, saying of the result of the referendum: ‘Brexit means Brexit.’ From there, May moved on to describe her vision for the future of the country, appearing to distance herself from the policies of her predecessor, David Cameron, by detailing a ‘different kind of Conservatism’. If elected, there would be a new industrial strategy, a substantial house-building programme, and an end to corporate excess. ‘There is a gaping chasm between wealthy London and the rest of the country,’ she warned. The twenty-minute speech was followed by a press conference in which May was pressed in more detail about her plans. Asked by the BBC’s deputy political editor, John Pienaar, for her response to Leadsom’s apology, she said: ‘I accept the apology, and, I’m here today, actually, ensuring that what I’m doing is talk about what I would do as Prime Minister and Leader of the Conservative Party.’ Throughout her speech and the short press conference, May never once slipped up over her tenses or gave any intimation that her status had changed from being a candidate for the leadership to a Prime Minister-in-waiting.

         Press conference over, May prepared to be interviewed on a one-on-one basis by a succession of journalists. First in line was Jonathan Walker of the Birmingham Mail. But before she could get to him, the phones of the other journalists still gathered in the hall began to vibrate with urgent demands from their news desks to question May about a series of messages that had just been sent by Laura Kuenssberg, the BBC’s political editor, via Twitter. The first, issued at 11.27 a.m., read ‘@andrealeadsom making a statement at 12’. It was followed six minutes later by another: ‘Westminster rumour mill going into overdrive over Leadsom statement and what it might be’. Finally, at 11.35 a.m., Kuenssberg sent the rumour mill off the scale: ‘Source tells me Leadsom to pull out at 12 – not confirmed’. May’s aides seemed as shocked by the news as the journalists were. May was hastily bundled back to the green room.

         Once she was alone again with her husband and Liam Fox, May confirmed the suspicion they had held for the past ninety minutes. Leadsom had informed May by telephone that she would be pulling out of the leadership contest, and graciously wished her good luck for her future life as Prime Minister. She had asked, however, that May keep the news of her withdrawal confidential until she had the chance to make it public herself. May had taken her literally, not breathing a word to her close friend Fox, or even her beloved husband Philip, the man who is closer to her by far than anyone in the world. For an hour and a half, May had kept her composure, not betraying by a single word or facial expression the staggering reality that, with breathtaking speed, she was about to become Britain’s second female Prime Minister. It was an honour she had long dreamed of; she could never have imagined the circumstances in which it would come about. Yet, at the very moment of her triumph, her self-control was such that she had not allowed herself even a moment’s celebration.

         It takes extraordinary strength of character to know for ninety long minutes that you are about to become the Prime Minister of the country you love, an honour you have craved from your teenage years, and not tell a soul. But, for Theresa May, there was no question that, having given her word to Andrea Leadsom, she would keep it. To understand how she could have displayed such composure at the very moment of her greatest success, it is necessary to go back, to an upbringing and family tradition that instilled in her a rigid sense of honour and the steely value of self-control.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER I

            BORN TO SERVE

         

         Public service is in Theresa May’s blood. Raised in a country vicarage in rural Oxfordshire, she was taught from a young age that it was her duty to help others. In her parents, she saw the concept of serving the community at first hand, their quiet religious faith and devotion to her father’s congregation providing a guiding light that would lead her to dedicate her own life to helping others. With no brothers or sisters to dilute the intimacy of her relationship with her parents, May also learned the value and strength of small groups; throughout her life she would see no virtue in promiscuously forming friendships with large numbers of people, preferring instead to draw close to a tiny number of true intimates. Reflecting on her childhood, May once described a typical scene: she and her mother had joined her father at his church. Finding themselves alone, the family sank to their knees and sang a hymn together: mother, father and child, united, self-sufficient and ready to serve.1

         The commitment to public duty has run through May’s family for generations, taking various forms along the way. She herself has made clear the importance she places on it, saying in the speech in which she declared herself a candidate for the leadership of the Conservative Party in June 2016: ‘I grew up the daughter of a local vicar and the granddaughter of a regimental sergeant major. Public service has been a part of who I am for as long as I can remember.’ In some cases, her family’s service was literal: both of May’s grandmothers were maids in large Victorian houses, and one of her great-grandfathers was a butler. Her humble origins stand in stark contrast to her immediate predecessor as Prime Minister, David Cameron, whose ancestors were more likely to employ maids than to work as servants. May’s antecedents were often not rich in monetary terms but the determination of her forebears to get on in life shines through her family tree. They were precisely the kind of ordinary working people she has pledged her premiership to serve.

         Theresa May was born Theresa Brasier, and her father’s branch of the family can be traced back to the late seventeenth century, to Limpsfield, in east Surrey, a village which appears in the Domesday Book of 1086 as ‘Limenesfeld’ and lies at the foot of the North Downs. Today, the village numbers around 4,000 people, and at least ninety buildings remain which would have been standing at the time May’s relatives were living there, including their ancestral home of Brasier’s Cottage. The amateur genealogist and former journalist Roy Stockdill has unearthed evidence of Brasiers in Limpsfield dating back to 1690.2 He traces the first direct link to Theresa May to a Richard and Ann Brasier, whom he believes to be her great-great-great-great-grandparents, who baptised their son, James, in the nearby village of Oxted in June 1722. Generations of Jameses, Richards and Anns would continue the Brasier line through the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. They were not well-off, but nor were they impoverished. The men were carpenters, joiners and builders, the women dressmakers and, in at least one case, a schoolteacher, suggesting that even in the Victorian era, the Brasiers had enough money, and enlightenment, to see that their daughters received an education.

         At the end of the nineteenth century, a James Brasier broke the connection to Limpsfield, moving thirty miles away to Wimbledon, south-west London, with his wife Sarah-Jane. There the family stayed for the next few generations, living close to the edge of Wimbledon Common. It is an area where, a century later, their great-granddaughter Theresa May would make her home and serve as a councillor. May’s paternal grandfather, Tom, and his five siblings were all born in the Crooked Billet area of Wimbledon. He was the youngest, coming into the world in 1880. 

         While his older brothers became carpenters and builders like their father, Tom went into the Army. He served with distinction for nearly twenty years, seeing service during the First World War at the end of his career, and it was he whom May referenced in her stirring leadership announcement. Roy Stockdill has speculated that Tom Brasier may also have fought in South Africa during the Boer War of 1899 to 1902, largely on the grounds that he does not appear in the British Census of 1901.3 By the time of the 1911 Census, Tom was in India, a sergeant in the 4th Battalion of the King’s Royal Rifles based in Chakrata, in the United Provinces of India, one of the many thousands of British men serving the Raj during the fading glories of the colonial era. Life for military personnel in India before the First World War was relatively jolly, in contrast to the plight of the indigenous population they ruled over. There were clubs and social events, outings and gymkhanas, military parades, cocktails on the veranda and a host of native servants to keep their gin and tonics topped up. As a sergeant, Tom Brasier was not close to the top of the social order, and his life would not have been as luxurious as that of higher-ranking officers, but he would still have enjoyed a standard of living far superior to that of his brothers and sisters back at home. This is almost certainly why he chose to have his family live with him at the barracks. At the time the Census was taken, Tom’s wife, Amy, had recently given birth to a baby boy, James.

         Amy Brasier, May’s paternal grandmother, seems to have been an enterprising young woman. Her father, David Patterson, worked as a butler in a large house in Wimbledon, coincidentally not far from the Brasiers. The post was a prestigious one, but David’s early death at the age of just forty-two in 1892 meant that by the turn of the century the family was struggling to get by. Perhaps it was for this reason that a few years later, Amy, by now in her late teens, was dispatched on the 12,000-mile journey to New Zealand, where she followed her father into service, working as a domestic maid for a family living in Christchurch. She stuck it out for just two years before homesickness got the better of her and, as the new century turned, she set sail again for England. On board was a young Wimbledon native – Tom Brasier – who by then was already serving with the King’s Rifles in India. Amy was striking, tall with dark hair; she soon caught Tom’s eye. With their shared connection to Wimbledon, the couple had plenty to talk about, helping to while away the endless hours at sea. They struck up a romance and by the time the boat docked in India, where Tom returned to his regiment, they were in love.4

         The relationship remained a long-distance one for nine long years, while Tom remained in India and Amy took up a new post as a maid in Ladbroke Grove, west London – the future power base of the Notting Hill set of well-heeled politicians whom her granddaughter would rub up against and ultimately overthrow. Even in Amy’s day, Ladbroke Grove was prosperous. She found work as a parlourmaid, one of four servants in a large, four-storey villa owned by a wealthy middle-aged widow, Caroline Henderson, and her two grown-up daughters. Perhaps for practical as much as financial reasons, Tom and Amy did not wed until 1909, when he had returned from India and was living in the Rifle Depot in Winchester, Hampshire. The marriage took place in a Nonconformist chapel around twenty-five miles from Tom’s barracks, in the town of Fleet, where Amy was living, having left the Hendersons’ employment. Within two years, Tom was back in India, this time bringing his bride with him. Perhaps the long engagement rankled, or maybe she was sensitive about being older than her husband. Whatever the reason, in the 1911 Census, Amy lopped ten years off her age, claiming to be only twenty-four. In fact, she was by now thirty-four, while Tom was thirty-two.

         During her time in India, Amy had two sons, the first of five children she would bear with Tom. Only one was still alive by the time she returned to England on the outbreak of the First World War in 1914. Once back home, she settled in Southfields in Wandsworth, south-west London, close to her in-laws in Wimbledon. Tom saw active service during the war, rising to the rank of sergeant major and being decorated for his valour. But by the time May’s father Hubert was born in 1917, a year before the war’s end, Tom had joined Amy in Wandsworth and was working as a clerk. He died there in 1951 at the age of seventy. 

         Amy lived to the ripe old age of eighty-eight. May’s cousin Alan Brasier has said of ‘Granny Amy’, as she was known: ‘She was kind and honest, a straightforward person who knew her own mind. And she was the type who would not tell anyone if she was feeling poorly; you had to worm it out of her.’5 Another cousin, Andy Parrott, has said that, like her son Hubert and granddaughter Theresa, Amy took her charitable obligations seriously:

         
            She was always sending off cheques … though she didn’t have much money of her own. But she cared. After she was widowed, she lived with us at my parents’ house in Surrey for several years while I was at school. She would listen to the BBC Home Service with an earphone rigged up by my father and knit woollen squares to send to Africa and other poor areas.6

         

         May’s maternal grandmother, Violet Barnes, was no ‘granny’, insisting her grandchildren address her by the title of ‘grandma’,7 Like Granny Amy, Violet had also been in domestic service in the early years of the twentieth century. Violet’s father, William Welland, worked as a shop’s porter; he moved the family from Devon to Reading in Berkshire when she was a small child. While still a teenager, Violet was taken on as a servant by a prosperous university physics professor, Walter Duffield, and his wife, Doris, who were originally from Australia and had recently moved to Reading. Before she was twenty, Violet, a diminutive figure who stood at only five feet tall, had begun walking out with Reginald Barnes, a travelling salesman and leather worker who originally hailed from Milton in Hampshire. Like Tom and Amy Brasier, ‘Vie’, as she was known, and ‘Reg’, as she called him, would be forced to endure a long-distance romance. On the outbreak of the First World War, Reg enlisted as a private in the Army Service Corps, and was sent overseas to fight in the East Africa campaign.8 A photograph Violet gave to Reg when he set sail was passed down the family and still survives, along with the touching note she wrote to accompany her portrait: ‘To Reg from Vie with fondest and truest love with all good wishes for great success in East Africa. “The ocean between lies such distance be our lot Should thou never see me? Love: forget me not.”’9

         Violet’s ardent wishes for Reg’s safe return were to come true: he did not forget her and he did see her again, returning safely from the war to marry her in 1917. Their happiness would last less than a year, however. The end of the Great War was accompanied by the worst flu pandemic the world has ever known, resulting in the deaths of at least 50 million people, three times as many as were killed in the conflict itself. Among them, within a week of each other in 1918, were William Welland and his son, Violet’s father and brother.10 As well as the emotional trauma of the double bereavement, the loss of the Welland family’s two main breadwinners was a major financial blow. After William’s death, the couple moved in with Violet’s mother. Geoffrey Levy of the Daily Mail, who has carried out extensive research into May’s family tree, has theorised that, as well as prompting them to move into the Welland family home, a lack of money may explain why Violet and Reg delayed having their first child until she was thirty-three, relatively old for the time.11 The terraced house was small, and would become even more cramped within a few years when one of Violet’s aunts moved in as well.

         May’s mother, Zaidee, was born in 1928, four years after her brother Maurice. While there has been speculation about her exotic-sounding name, its roots lie in Violet’s strong character rather than any foreign connection. May has said of her mother:

         
            Her brother was born first and my mother’s mother wanted to call her son Kenneth and the father said he was going to be called Maurice. So she said when the girl comes along, ‘I get to choose the name,’ and she picked Zaidee, where from I know not. Even before she met my father, my mother was a regular churchgoer.12

         

         In fact, Violet too was a regular churchgoer who, like her future son-in-law Hubert, was a devout Anglo-Catholic. It is likely that she found the name in her Bible: Zaidee, meaning ‘Princess’, was Abraham’s wife in the Old Testament. 

         Both Reg and Violet lived long enough to know their granddaughter, Theresa. Reg died in 1970 at the age of seventy-eight, while Violet survived until she was ninety-four, outliving her daughter Zaidee by several years. For much of her widowhood Violet was confined to a wheelchair, having suffered an adverse reaction to a smallpox vaccination. Glynys Barnes, who is married to May’s cousin Adrian Barnes, has said that Violet did not let her poor health slow her down. ‘She was a tiny lady, but very positive, very determined and very, very forceful.’13 Theresa May clearly inherited the strength of character of both of her former servant grandmothers.

         While Violet Barnes’s religious dedication was clear in her choice of name for her daughter, the extent to which Tom and Amy Brasier were fervent churchgoers is less certain. Like virtually all Victorians and Edwardians, they would have had some contact with the Church. Their decision to marry in a Nonconformist chapel, while perhaps taken for reasons of convenience, as it was close to where Amy was living, does suggest that their religious beliefs tended to towards the ‘Low Church’, with an emphasis on personal morality and a family-centred view of their faith, as opposed to what may have been seen as an over-mighty organised church structure. Their son Hubert, May’s father, would take an entirely different approach to his faith.

         Hubert was an intelligent boy who in 1928 passed an entrance examination allowing him to attend the Wandsworth School, a grammar school close to his home in Southfields. It would change his life. Wandsworth had a reputation as one of the best state schools in the country, and Hubert was encouraged to try for university, an unusual path for a boy of his class at the time. Theresa May’s long-running interest in the opportunities provided by a grammar school education to the bright children of low-income families may well have had their roots in her father’s experiences at the Wandsworth School. Hubert was so well thought of by his teachers that in his final year he was named head boy. By coincidence, the head girl of the local girls’ grammar school, Mayfields, was an eighteen-year-old Marjorie Sweeting, who would go on to become May’s tutor at Oxford. Attending a function in Sweeting’s honour in Oxford in 2014, May told the story of how, at the two schools’ joint dance, it was a tradition that the head boy presented the head girl with a bouquet of flowers. Hubert somewhat unchivalrously gave Marjorie a cauliflower.14

         In his teenage years, Hubert began to develop a deeper interest in religion. Two years after leaving the Wandsworth School, at the age of twenty, he became a theology student at the University of Leeds, a red-brick university born out of the original Yorkshire College of Science and Leeds Medical School in 1904. At Leeds, Hubert entered a hostel run by the nearby College of Resurrection, where he began training for the Anglican priesthood. Founded in 1903 in the nearby town of Mirfield, the college describes itself today as ‘a Theological College like no other’, and its ‘High Church’, Anglo-Catholic tradition was a world away from the Nonconformism that Tom and Amy had married within. The college is closely linked to the Community of the Resurrection, a movement which grew out of Christian Socialism and the Catholic revival that had taken place within the Church of England during the nineteenth century. All students were expected to attend Matins and Evensong six days a week. The location for the college, in the industrial north of England, was deliberate. The community’s founders emphasised pastoral work in poor communities, and the college was set up in part to provide religious instruction to local men of little means – perhaps one of the reasons Hubert decided to train there. But Hubert also seems to have embraced the college’s ethos of religiosity, conspicuous devotion and, perhaps most importantly, public service. During his last year in the Leeds University hostel, he became the Head Man. While worshiping at Mirfield, Hubert would have encountered both Lord Halifax, the then Foreign Secretary who regularly made his sacramental confession there, and Dietrich Bonhoeffer, a German pastor who led the Church’s opposition to the Nazis and who stayed at the college before the war; he was later hanged in Flossenbürg concentration camp two weeks before its liberation in 1945. 

         Hubert graduated from Leeds with First Class Honours in Theology in the spring of 1940. It was perhaps the darkest time of the entire war. Britain stood alone against the Nazis, as Belgium, Holland and France fell one by one to the devastating German blitzkrieg over the course of just six weeks. With the United States yet to enter the conflict, the future of Europe itself hung in the balance. In desperation, the new Prime Minister, Winston Churchill, extended conscription to all British men under the age of thirty-six. As a student, Hubert had been exempt from service during the first year of the war. On graduating at the age of twenty-three, he joined another ‘reserved occupation’ – the clergy. Unlike his soldier father Tom, Hubert would do his bit for his country in time of war by serving on the home front. But World War Two was a war like no other, with the civilian population not spared the tortures of terror, violence and extreme deprivation. At times, the men, women and children at home faced death on a daily basis. The horrors Hubert would see in his ministry were scarcely less than Tom must have witnessed on the battlefield.

         After undertaking postgraduate pastoral training at Mirfield, in 1942 Hubert became a curate at the Church of St Andrew the Apostle, in Catford, south-east London, in the diocese of Southwark. The church was an Anglo-Catholic one, built at the turn of the century in one of the poorest areas of London. By the time Hubert arrived, the community had already suffered dreadfully in the Blitz. Just six months into his time at St Andrew’s, on 20 January 1943, Hubert would have witnessed one of the saddest tragedies of the war on the home front, when a local primary school, Sandhurst Road, took a direct hit from a German fighter bomber. While virtually all children in the capital had been evacuated to safety during the height of the Blitz in 1940 and 1941, and despite the continuing risk of random air raids, by the middle stages of the war many parents could no longer bear the heartache of separation, and had taken the difficult decision to bring their youngsters back to London. As a result, some schools, including Sandhurst Road, had reopened. 

         A single 1,100 lb SC500 bomb fell on the school at 12.30 p.m., just as many pupils and teachers had gathered for lunch in the dining room, which was totally destroyed. A local air raid siren went off too late, meaning those inside the school had no warning. It was later claimed that the German Luftwaffe pilot had deliberately targeted what he mistakenly took to be a residential block of flats, a scarcely more legitimate target, in retaliation for an RAF assault on Berlin three days earlier, as part of a strategy drawn up by Hitler called ‘Terrorangriff’, or ‘terror raid’.15 In total, thirty-two children were killed in the bombing along with six teachers. Most of them were buried together in a civilian war dead plot in Hither Green Cemetery, in a ceremony presided over by Bertram Simpson, the Bishop of Southwark. Hubert would have been at the service, and would have done his best over the following five years he stayed at St Andrew’s, which was just 100 yards from the school, to provide some comfort to the dozens of grieving parents.

         A few months after the disaster, Hubert was formally ordained in Southwark Cathedral. While many ‘Mirfield Men’, as graduates of the college were known, voluntarily took vows of celibacy, becoming ‘oblates’ who dedicated their lives to the ways of the brethren while taking their ministry to the wider community, Father Brasier chose not to adopt a monastic life.16 The influence of Mirfield on his religious outlook would remain throughout his life, however. Appearing on Desert Island Discs in 2014, Theresa May named as one of her tracks the Anglo-Catholic benediction ‘Therefore We Before Him Bending This Great Sacrament Revere’. Giles Fraser, the Church of England priest and journalist, has said of the hymn:

         
            This really is a fascinating choice. First, because no one who wasn’t a proper churchgoer would ever have heard of it. And, second, because it betrays the enormous sacramental influence of her High Church father. Benediction, the worship of the blessed sacrament – or ‘wafer worship’ as Protestant scoffers often describe it – is pretty hardcore Anglo-Catholic stuff.17

         

          The fact that Hubert did not marry until 1955, by which time he was already thirty-seven, in an era when couples tended to wed in their early twenties, perhaps suggests too that as a young man he had considered a life of celibacy.

         Zaidee Barnes was more than a decade younger than her groom, twenty-six, on her wedding day. In 1948, Hubert had moved parishes to St Luke’s in Reigate, a prosperous town in Surrey, still within the diocese of Southwark. Five years later, he moved again, to the seaside town of Eastbourne in East Sussex, where he worked as chaplain at the All Saints Convalescent Home. Unlike her roving husband-to-be, Zaidee had spent her entire life before her mariage in the same place, 156 Southampton Street, ‘where Reading’s trams trundled past the front of the terrace house and the loo was in the backyard’.18 The couple were wed in a church on her street, St Giles, which is also in the Anglo-Catholic tradition. Zaidee’s devout mother Violet must have been thrilled at her choice of an Anglican priest as her husband. After the wedding, the new bride moved with her husband to Eastbourne, where she joined Hubert in the Chaplain’s House at the All Saints Hospital.

         All Saints is in the Meads area of Eastbourne, a pretty, prosperous area. Built in the Gothic Revival style in 1867, it was an Anglo-Catholic convalescent home run by Anglican nuns. Today, the chapel is a wedding venue, while the hospital has been converted into luxury apartments. The Brasiers remained there until a shortage of nuns to nurse the patients and a lack of donations to provide the funds necessary for its upkeep meant the hospital was taken over by the NHS in 1959, before finally closing to patients in 2004. It was in Eastbourne, at a maternity home on Uppington Road, on 1 October 1956, just over a year after her parents’ marriage, that Theresa Mary Brasier came into the world. Hubert is thought to have named her for Saint Teresa of Avila, a seventeenth-century Spanish Carmelite nun who advocated contemplative prayer and reform of the church.

         The continuing influence of her parents’ belief in the importance of both religion and public service is evident throughout Theresa May’s life. Hers, however, seems to be a more traditional, Church of England faith than the Anglo-Catholicism they practiced. She has said of her religious belief:

         
            It is important. I’m still a practising member of the Anglican Church. I don’t get as involved in church activities as I have done in the past, but I’m still a regular communicant. I think the point is that it is part of me. It is part of who I am and therefore how I approach things.

         

         May has said that, while she never for a moment had doubts about her Christian commitment, she did enjoy engaging her father in lengthy debates as a teenager. Perhaps they discussed her inclination to move away from Anglo-Catholicism, towards a quieter, less ostentatious approach. She has said:

         
            It’s interesting, because … at no stage did I take issue with the Church, and I think that was partly because it was never really imposed on me by my parents. Obviously, in the early days, I was very much brought up in the Church, and going to church, but it was always understood that if I didn’t want to I could make that decision, so I think precisely because of that I didn’t feel the need to kick the traces in any way.19

         

         As a parliamentarian, May has not shied away from taking decisions her parents may have found problematic due to their religious beliefs, including her radical move to bring forward legislation to allow gay marriage. She refuses to answer questions about whether her father would have approved. Other aspects of Anglo-Catholicism seem not to quite fit with May’s character. It is hard to imagine Britain’s second female Prime Minister, a woman who has worked tirelessly for over a decade to encourage more women into Parliament, supporting a teaching which, as many in the Anglo-Catholic tradition (although not Mirfield College) still do, shies away from the ordination of women priests.

         Since becoming MP for Maidenhead in 1997, May has worshipped at the ancient parish church of St Andrew’s, near her constituency home in Sonning, a beautiful and quintessentially English church with parts dating back to the medieval era. She wears her faith lightly and does not often speak of it. But her commitment to serving her community is clear – if kept private. In 2014, at a time when she was Home Secretary, one of the most challenging posts in the country, she cooked lunch for the residents of a homeless shelter run by the Samaritans in Westminster, without making it public,20 a simple, lowkey act of charity which would have made her parents proud.

         A number of May’s past and current colleagues reference her religion when describing her political philosophy. Cheryl Gillan, the former Welsh Secretary who has served alongside her in Parliament for nearly twenty years, says:

         
            That quiet faith that she has; not to over-egg the pudding, because she’s not an evangelical Christian, but she’s steady and has that underpinning, which you feel will give her a very strong … moral compass. I don’t think she has to show off, or join in, she just does it; she goes to church.

         

         John Elvidge, who served with May on Merton Council in the late 1980s, adds:

         
            There’s a huge moral force behind [her philosophy]. I knew nothing [at the time] about her parents or her background, but obviously that’s where it derives from. She obviously has a sense of corporate, public duty which drives her. It’s not all personal politics, ‘I’ve got to get to the top of the greasy pole,’ she actually wants to do something once she’s there.

         

         It is a very Tory faith; low-key, traditional, steady, and without ostentation. Above all, Theresa May’s religiosity has propelled her to seek ways through her politics to serve her fellow men and women in a concrete fashion. Her supporters and detractors may disagree over the extent to which she succeeds, but few doubt her sincerity. 

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER II

            CHILD OF THE VICARAGE

         

         Hubert Brasier may not have become a father until more than a decade after the end of the Second World War, but when he finally did, his concerns were very much those of his peers, the parents of the baby boomer generation. Like them, having lived through the poverty of the 1930s and the horrors of World War Two, both Hubert and his wife Zaidee were keen to ensure their own child’s life was one of comparative ease and comfort. It is this understandable desire that drove the couple to establish a safe and secure world for their only daughter, and would go a long way towards ensuring that her political, philosophical and religious outlook would be calibrated slightly differently from their own. Although his parents, Tom and Amy Brasier, had enjoyed a reasonable standard of living by the time of his birth in 1917, while growing up, Hubert would have seen real poverty among many of their neighbours in Wandsworth. He gained a further insight into the lives of the poor having undergone religious instruction at a college rooted in Christian socialism, and with a mission to train the sons of low-income families for the priesthood. From there, he had gone on to witness stark scenes of deprivation and suffering at close hand in his ministry in Catford during the war. Zaidee, raised with three generations crammed into the same terraced house in Reading, certainly understood what it was like to struggle to make ends meet.

         These were concerns the Brasiers were determined that the young Theresa would be spared. And she was. Hers was a comfortable childhood, played out in two idyllic villages in prosperous Oxfordshire. While they would never be rich, as adults the Brasiers did not have to scrabble around for money as their forebears had. There was enough in the bank for all Theresa’s needs to be met, including, when they felt it necessary, private education. The tranquil surroundings of her childhood would help to instil in May a rather more conventional, conservative with both a big and a small ‘C’ mentality than her parents’, slightly more socially liberal as the times changed, perhaps, but with a harder edge economically, and unafraid to pin her colours to the mast as on the right of the political spectrum. Her future Cabinet colleague Liam Fox sums up the influence on May of her upbringing and surroundings: ‘She is very much what it says on the packet. She is a vicar’s daughter who has a very traditional Conservative view.’

         May was just two when her parents moved from Eastbourne following the closure of the All Saints Convalescent Hospital in 1959. Her father’s new posting was as the Vicar of Enstone, in the tiny medieval hamlet of Church Enstone, a picture-perfect Cotswolds village with thatched cottages dating back to the Saxon era, about five miles from the market town of Chipping Norton and surrounded by corn fields. The vicarage was a few minutes’ walk from the village’s Norman church, which is dedicated to the Anglo-Saxon boy-king and martyr St Kenelm. Five years after Hubert’s arrival in Enstone, his parish was extended to cover nearby Heythrop, home of the fabled Heythrop hunt, and from then on he conducted services every other week at St Nicholas’s, another church dating back to the Norman era.

         May has said that as a young girl she was always aware that her father’s first duty was to his parishioners:

         
            Obviously everything very much did revolve around the church. [My] early memories [were] of, I suppose, a father who couldn’t always be there necessarily when you wanted him to be, but who was around quite a lot of the time at other times when other parents weren’t, normally … Some people would say sometimes life as a vicar’s daughter can have its ups and downs. But I feel hugely privileged, actually, in the childhood that I had.21

         

         Elsewhere, she has said:

         
            I remember one Christmas there had been a great car crash and a couple of families in the village had lost members of their families. That Christmas Day, after he’d done his services, my father went out and visited them and took them presents. I was about nine at the time, and because he was out doing his job, visiting those families, I didn’t get my presents until six o’clock in the evening.22

         

         The knowledge that her small demands were secondary to the needs of her father’s parishioners would have been a strong antidote to any tendency for self-absorption as an only child. Growing up in the vicarage taught her other life lessons. She has said:

         
            Being brought up in a vicarage, of course the advantage is that you do see people from all walks of life, and particularly in villages you see people from all sorts of backgrounds … and all sorts of conditions, in terms of disadvantage and advantage. What came out of my upbringing was a sense of service.23

         

         May was aware that her father’s role in the community placed expectations on her, too. She attributes her somewhat reserved nature to her early childhood, suggesting that, given her father’s position in the parish, she could not be seen to behave in a way that would reflect badly on him. ‘You don’t think about it at the time, but there are certain responsibilities that come with being the vicar’s daughter,’ she once said. ‘You’re supposed to behave in a particular way.’24 Elsewhere, May has added: ‘You didn’t think about yourself, the emphasis was on others.’25 Hubert took his pastoral duties seriously. Speaking in 2016, one of May’s cousins said:

         
            The impression I got as a child was that Uncle Hubert was more concerned about looking after his parishioners than he was himself. He was more interested in their welfare and spiritual well-being than he was in day-to-day things like, for example, cutting the lawn. He was very clever. He had a very quick mind and whenever I was in conversation with him, he seemed to be extremely knowledgeable. I’m guessing that’s where Theresa got it from.26

         

         May has said of her father:

         
            He was hopeless at cooking or mending a plug but hugely respected for his pastoral work. He visited one family and heard scrabbling noises in the house before the door was opened. When he sat down he put his hand over the armchair straight into a bowl of jelly and ice cream. They had been sitting eating and tried to clear it away before the vicar came in.27

         

         Hubert’s parishioners were a mixture of the very wealthy inhabitants of the grand country houses which dot the area and local farm labourers. Today, Church Enstone is at the heart of the ‘Chipping Norton set’ – both David Cameron’s constituency home of Dean Farm and the trendy retreat Soho Farmhouse are within five miles – and many of the country squires have been replaced by wealthy second-home owners. But in the 1960s, when May was a child, it still was something of a sleepy backwater. One inhabitant, John Sword, has said: ‘It was a more remote area when Mrs May was growing up. It was rural but not backward. It’s now a fashionable place to live.’28 Another resident, John Watts, remembers the Brasiers well. He has described the young Theresa as a reserved and well-mannered little girl, and still has a couple of her old toy cars which her parents gave to his children. He has said: ‘Her parents brought the toys down for my two boys in the 1960s after she had outgrown them. Theresa was a very pleasant and polite girl. As the daughter of the village’s vicar she had a lot to live up to.’29

         A few years after arriving in Church Enstone, when she was nearly five, May was enrolled at the state-funded Heythrop Primary School. Her first day was not a success. ‘I remember arriving at school screaming my head off because I didn’t want to leave my mother,’ she once wrote. ‘So I had to be carried into the class in the arms of the headmistress, who announced to the rest of the class: “Look what a silly little girl we’ve got here.”’30 The shame of being singled out still clearly resonated with May forty years later. She soon thrived, however, in the school’s tiny world. She wrote:

         
            Heythrop Primary was a very small school with only twenty-seven children in the whole school, and when I left there were only eleven children. Mrs Williams, the headmistress, was the only teacher. I also remember that when the sun shone we used to take our desks outside, and sometimes when the ice cream van came we all got an ice cream if we had been very good.31

         

         May’s school holidays were times of quiet happiness. She would later recall how the little family would take their annual summer vacation in the Lake District. ‘I remember going to Seathwaite when I was eight,’ she said. ‘We had a cottage, and each morning I’d go across a field and collect fresh milk from a farm.’32 Without siblings, May learned to be resourceful. ‘Being an only child,’ she says,

         
            you don’t feel the same need to be in a big group, at least not in the same way as people who grow up with a lot of people around them. You’re given more of a sense of … not ‘making your own way’, exactly, but relying on yourself a bit more, perhaps.

         

         She enjoyed reading; Swallows and Amazons and the pony books of Pat Smythe were among her favourites.

         After leaving Heythrop Primary School, May began her secondary education at St Juliana’s Convent for Girls in September 1968, when she was a few weeks shy of her twelfth birthday. St Juliana’s was about ten miles from Church Enstone, and Hubert and Zaidee’s decision to send her there, rather than nearby state grammar schools such as Spendlove in Charlbury or Henry Box in Witney, is telling. As its name suggests, St Juliana’s was a Catholic convent, and although fellow pupils at the time confirm that perhaps two-thirds of the girls who attended it in the 1960s were Protestants, as a Church of England vicar, Hubert’s choice is yet another sign of his ‘High Church’ Anglicanism. Around half of the teachers at the school were nuns from the Sisters of the Servite Order, and the headmistress was the Mother Prioress. Although May was a day girl, St Juliana’s accepted boarders, who went to chapel each morning. There was also a morning assembly, with prayers and a hymn. The most devoted could go to the Priory Church, across the street, to hear Latin Mass outside school hours. Priests would occasionally come into the school to take a Religious Education class. Grace was said – in Latin – before and after lunch.

         St Juliana’s was also fee-paying, although the rates were relatively low. One former pupil who attended in the early 1960s remembers that at one point the fees stood at £25 per term, equivalent to between £457 and £545 today. By 1982, when the ex-pupil enquired about sending her own daughters to the school, the rate was £185 a term, now worth £640. The fees were slightly lower for Catholic families. In her first years in Parliament, May made no reference on her CV to St Juliana’s, which she attended for around two years before moving to a grammar school, which later became a comprehensive. It was only when the omission was spotted, and she was criticised for it, that she began to refer to St Juliana’s publicly.

         Nowadays, May makes a virtue out of her eclectic education, recently highlighting her unusual perspective in having experienced teaching in the independent, state grammar and comprehensive sectors to suggest she speaks with authority on the thorny issue of selection. ‘I was incredibly lucky when I was a young girl growing up,’ she wrote recently. ‘My education was varied: I went to a grammar school that became a comprehensive – and, for a short time, I attended a private school … I want every child to have the kind of opportunities that I enjoyed.’33

         Former pupils seem to have been fond of St Juliana’s, which closed, ‘due to a nun shortage’, in 1984. On its Facebook page, created by an Old Girl, the school is described as ‘probably the best convent in the world’. The former pupil who left just before May arrived remembers that discipline was tight. ‘There were one or two girls who could be disruptive,’ she says.

         
            If their behaviour continued to disrupt the class, they were sent out into the corridor and if necessary were sent to the headmistress, Mother Prioress. Occasionally a letter was sent home or a detention given. The most severe punishment that took place while I was at St Juliana’s was when four boarders were expelled for leaving the premises at night; some of the day girls had told them that [the late 1960s pop star] Adam Faith … was staying at the Bear Hotel in Woodstock. We never saw them again.

         

         Sport was encouraged on St Juliana’s extensive playing fields, and the school had a decent netball team that played other schools on Saturdays. Also at the weekend, one of the nuns would teach the girls to swim at a swimming pool in nearby Hinksey, walking the edge of the pool dressed in a full habit while bellowing out instructions. The former pupil remembers the teaching at St Juliana’s as being ‘enlightening and for the most part enjoyable’, with a particular emphasis on Geography. May for one developed an early interest in the subject, going on to study it at university.

         It was while she was still at St Juliana’s, and on the cusp of becoming a teenager, that May began to develop an interest in politics. She had long been fascinated by current affairs. When she was a child in the vicarage, Hubert and Zaidee spoke to the young Theresa as an equal, and at an early age she joined in their discussions about the state of the world. ‘[I was] reading quite a lot, [and] probably at quite a young age started arguing, discussing things with my father,’ she has said. ‘I think part of being an only child was being exposed to much more of the adult world at an earlier age.’34 As she grew older, her conversations with Hubert in particular turned into full-scale debates. ‘He didn’t sit you down and give you a lecture, it was more by conversation generally,’ she has said. ‘I was brought up in a vicarage where current affairs were talked about. Working with people and speaking were embodied by my father. It was a natural environment to seek a political future.’35

         The late 1960s, when May’s political consciousness was awakening, was a time of international turmoil, with the May 1968 student uprisings taking place in Paris, the My Lai massacre and escalating conflict in Vietnam, and the emergence of the civil rights movement and assassinations of Martin Luther King and Robert Kennedy in the United States. Closer to home, the Northern Ireland Troubles were beginning and racial tension stirring as Enoch Powell made his infamous ‘Rivers of Blood’ speech. Labour’s Harold Wilson had been in No. 10 for five years, having promised a technological revolution to match the rapid social changes taking place. The global turmoil seems to have passed by sleepy rural Oxfordshire, however. May was determined, from the outset, that like most of her neighbours she was a Conservative. She has ascribed her early rejection of socialism to her father, saying: ‘I wasn’t an unthinking Tory. I was on the right because of individual freedom. I suppose standing on your own two feet was part of my father’s ethos of public service.’36

         As May began to take a deeper interest in politics, she raised with her father the prospect of joining the Conservative Party. Hubert was wary of politicising the vicarage, but gave permission for her to begin her involvement with the local party – with a few caveats. ‘My father was very clear … that as far as he was concerned, he was the vicar for the whole parish, and so I shouldn’t be out on the streets, sort of parading my politics,’ May has said. ‘It was important to him that I could be involved, but do it in that sort of behind-the-scenes sense.’37 May now spent her Saturdays ‘stuff[ing] envelopes in the Conservative office’,38 obediently taking care always to remain out of sight in a back room.

         By the time May was twelve, she had decided she wanted to explore politics at a higher level. She would become an MP. ‘I did want to be a Member of Parliament at a young age,’ she has said.

         
            And the reason I wanted to be a Member of Parliament, it can be summed up very simply, I wanted to make a difference. I wanted actually to be doing a job where I was making decisions that actually helped to improve people’s quality of life. It’s about making life better for people, I think that’s fundamentally what drives me in politics.39

         

         ‘Politics captured me,’ she has said elsewhere.

         
            I think it was because I wanted to make a difference to people’s lives. That sounds terribly trite, but being involved in politics, being a Member of Parliament, and particularly being a government minister is a huge honour, a huge privilege but it also carries with it significant responsibilities … I wanted to be part of the debate.40

         

         Life in the vicarage was not all about serious debate, however. The family was close and loving, the atmosphere in the kitchen in particular warm and cosy as Zaidee taught the young Theresa to cook – an art that would become one of her life-long passions. She has spoken particularly favourably of her mother’s scones, using her first setpiece newspaper interview after becoming Prime Minister to share the recipe.41 Hubert was no cook. ‘I remember an omelette once. Didn’t turn out right at all,’ May has said.42 There was usually a dog or two milling around, and classical music playing in the background. Zaidee was a fine musician, and May has said that refusing to let her mother teach her the piano remains one of her greatest regrets.43 The conversations between May and her father were not entirely serious, either. May inherited Hubert’s love of cricket, and the pair would spend long summer afternoons listening to Test matches on the wireless. They once got involved in a furious row over who the best-ever England batsman was – Geoffrey Boycott, as May argued, or John Edrich, her father’s hero. It is an interest May has maintained throughout her life, often taking time away from Westminster to watch a match. Boycott remained a hero. She campaigned (unsuccessfully) for him to be given a knighthood, and was thrilled when, in 2013, he invited her to Headingley to watch Yorkshire play. Some interviewers have seen a metaphor in May’s admiration for Boycott’s somewhat stolid determination. She has said of the England player: ‘I have been a Geoff Boycott fan all my life. It was just that he kind of solidly got on with what he was doing.’44

         In 1970, when May was thirteen, Hubert was made Vicar of Wheatley, a large village about twenty miles from Church Enstone, to the east of Oxford. His new church was St Mary the Virgin, built in the mid-nineteenth century in the Gothic Revival style. It too was known as being ‘very High Church’.45 Hubert is remembered fondly by his former parishioners. He was still their vicar at the time of his death in a car accident in 1981, and a plaque in his memory has been placed on the wall inside St Mary’s. One member of the congregation at the time has suggested that life in the vicarage shaped May: ‘She was rather a serious young lady in those days. She was a very spiritual person. And has kept the faith.’46 May was game enough to throw herself into village life, however, taking part in a local pantomime and getting a Saturday job in a bakery to earn pocket money, much of which she spent on clothes. May’s fascination with fashion had begun. She has said: ‘That was the era of flares and tank tops, I’m afraid. It would have been flared trousers; blouses used to have more sleeves in those days, voluminous sleeves. I had a yellow blouse which had huge, huge, voluminous sleeves.’47 Elsewhere, she has said that the last time she experienced ‘sartorial embarrassment’ was ‘in a pair of lime-green platforms as a teenager’.48

         The Wheatley Vicarage, where the Brasiers now lived, was just around the corner from a girls’ grammar school, Holton Park, which was well-regarded enough for Hubert and Zaidee to decide to place their daughter back in the state system. As it had been at St Juliana’s, the teaching of Geography was particularly impressive. May passed the school’s entrance exam and began attending as a third year. The school building was an old manor house, and rich in history. A Roman settlement existed under a playing field known as ‘The Racks’, which is now used as a tennis court, and the grounds contained a 900-year-old tree, called the ‘Domesday Oak’, so named because it dates back to the time of the Domesday Book. Oliver Cromwell’s daughter Bridget is said to have wed at the house a few days before the fall of Royalist Oxford, in the middle of the English Civil War in 1646. In 1944 and 1945, the house was used by the American Army for the recuperation of servicemen wounded in the D-Day landings, and there were still Nissen huts in the grounds during May’s time at the school. Three years after the end of the war, the building was purchased by the local authority, and the existing East Oxfordshire Girls’ Grammar School was moved to the site and renamed Holton Park. In the years which followed, generations of girls passed down legends of the various ghosts said to haunt its passageways.

         May has said she has ‘fond memories’ of her time at the school.49 In 2011, when she was contacted by the Oxfordshire historian Marilyn Yurdan and asked to contribute to a book Yurdan was writing on Holton Park and other grammar schools, May agreed to write the foreword. ‘This book brings back so many memories – from sherbet fountains to Corona, from Tommy Steele to Z Cars, from stodgy puddings to Vesta curries; and that’s not to mention the education,’ she wrote.50 A few days before becoming Prime Minister, and to the surprise of the events’ organisers, who assumed that she would have been forced to pull out, May returned to the school to open a garden made by children at John Watson School, a special needs school which stands in the extensive grounds of what was formerly Holton Park and is now Wheatley Park School.

         May’s new classmates at the grammar school found her a reserved character, a dedicated student who worked hard and was intolerant of those who took a lighter-hearted approach to their studies. ‘I enjoyed reading, I did my homework, I was that sort of schoolgirl,’ she has said.51 Rosalind Hicks-Greene, who (as Rosalind Redmond) was at Holton Park with May, has said of her old classmate:

         
            She was very focused. She was the person that you knew would start to tut if we had a bit of an off-track conversation with the history teacher. She was the one that would start to get a bit impatient because she wanted to get back on track. She was very quiet, she was extremely studious, she was the person who always did their homework, always came to lessons well-prepared.52

         

         Tall for her age, by her teenage years May had developed a stoop in her shoulders like her father, and has admitted she preferred to keep in the background. ‘I probably was Goody Two Shoes,’ she has said.53

         A year after May’s arrival at Holton Park, in 1971, the school was swept up in the national education reformation which had begun in the previous decade, when Oxfordshire County Council decreed that the grammar school system should be abolished and replaced with universal comprehensive education. Holton Park was merged with a local boys’ school, the Shotover School, and renamed Wheatley Park School. As well as now taking pupils of mixed ability, it also opened its doors to boys as well as girls. The Holton Park site became the Upper School, while Shotover was the Lower School, meaning May could stay where she was. Kevin Harritage, who looks after the archive at Wheatley Park, says the upheaval would have been immense – and suggests it has shaped May’s thinking on education:

         
            I think it was a huge change … She was here at a time when it was probably the most difficult period in terms of the changeover … I think she saw it at the worst possible time, and I believe that’s why she thinks grammar schools are so good and that comprehensive schools are not quite so good.54

         

         While ex-pupils confirm that there was indeed ‘chaos’ at the school for a time,55 for the former grammar school girls, the disruption was kept to a minimum. Most of the former Holton Park pupils continued to be taught as they had been, in single-sex classes in the old manor house. Martin Robinson, who became a pupil a year after May left, has said: 

         
            The head teacher and senior leaders from the grammar school had remained in charge and the teaching for the top sets was mainly done by old grammar school staff … Theresa would have been protected from the chaos due to her being educated away from the oiks, across the moat in the old manor, with the same staff and grammar school mores she had become used to. She … was therefore untainted by the ‘comprehensivisation’.56

         

         The presence of male pupils at the school certainly did not intimidate the teenage Theresa Brasier. When a trip was arranged for the boys to attend an international rugby match, she made her feelings known at being left out. Hubert Brasier complained to the headmistress, Andrea Mills – and May got to go on the excursion. She has said: ‘My parents’ approach was very much: “Whatever you do, always aim to do the best.” There was never any suggestion that because I was a girl there were things I couldn’t do.’57

         In September 1972, aged just fifteen, May entered the Wheatley Park Sixth Form. The previous summer she had picked up eleven O-levels and, given her clear intelligence and hard work, had been allowed to skip an academic year. She began studying for three A-levels and an S-level, a general studies exam taken only by the most able pupils, usually those on their way to either Oxford or Cambridge. By now, the tenacity and strength of purpose which her Cabinet colleagues would recognise were beginning to emerge. A few days after she became Prime Minister in 2016, a former schoolmate, Patsy Davies (née Tolley), wrote a letter to The Guardian saying:

         
            In the early 1970s I found myself in the same class at school as a certain Theresa Brasier, now known as Theresa May. How we all sniggered when she announced to our form teacher Mr Montgomery that she wanted to be Prime Minister. Well, we’re not sniggering now … Immediately after O-levels I left that school to continue my education elsewhere. And why? Because, at the tender age of fifteen, Theresa had managed to persuade our headmistress to reconfigure the school’s original A-level options to accommodate the subjects of her choice.58

         

         Others recall May speaking of becoming Prime Minister in her teenage years (something she herself has denied). Her cousin, Andy Parrott, has said:

         
            I remember my parents had this tape, which they played me once … It was a tape Theresa had made, I believe in her sixth form, and this tape said that she wants to be the first female Prime Minister of Great Britain. My parents were very proud of this. They thought it was wonderful.59

         

         Parrott says there was no sense that his parents thought May was being precocious, or that her words grated. Instead, the extended family was proud of her.

         Unfortunately for May, her early attempts at forging a political career did not go to plan. For all her inner confidence, she remained somewhat reserved, even shy. Her first stab at public speaking ended in disaster. She has said:

         
            When I was at school we had a history teacher who decided he would set up a debating society … and he suggested a number of us went along one day into a classroom, which we all did, and he had some pieces of paper with different subjects on, literally in a hat, and everybody had to go up and pick a piece of paper and speak for two minutes … Funnily enough, despite the fact that I was quite used to discussing things with my parents at home, [when] … I went up and picked a piece of paper, and I turned round, I couldn’t think of a single thing to say. So my career in debating started with silence.60

         

         Her fortunes didn’t improve later that year, when May stood as the Conservative candidate in a mock election held by Wheatley Park to coincide with the February 1974 general election. It was a tough contest – and May put up a good fight. The current head teacher of Wheatley Park, Kate Curtis, has said: ‘There is a story about the school running an election and Mrs May standing as the Tory candidate. Apparently, she stood at the entrance to the old school house and gave a speech which was very impressive.’61 May’s Liberal opponent was the popular Rosalind Hicks-Greene, the school’s head girl, who went on to win. She has said that while May’s policies may have been considered sound by the electorate, she lacked the personal appeal to win their votes. It was a harsh introduction to the conundrum May and her fellow Tories would grapple with for much of her early career in Parliament.

         In an early attempt at appearing modern, May was by now styling herself as ‘Terri’ Brasier. Hicks-Greene has said: ‘I think she called herself that at school so as to be an approachable person. It was not hard to beat Theresa as she was not very charismatic.’62 Elsewhere, Hicks-Greene has added: ‘She was very serious and quite reserved and that probably didn’t go in her favour. She was very quiet and studious but when she needed to make her views felt she certainly could do so.’63 Recalling May’s speech, Hicks-Greene has said:

         
            I can recall thinking to myself that it was a very typical, safe Conservative speech, very much grounded in safe Conservative policies as they were at the time … I’m afraid she was very quiet, very studious, she was not a charismatic person, but you felt that you could absolutely believe what she was saying and you could trust her.64

         

         A photograph printed on the front page of the following week’s Oxford Times, under the headline ‘The New Prime Minister!’ shows May smiling bravely as she watches Hicks-Greene throw her arms up in a victory celebration, while the unfortunate Labour candidate, Val Fortescue, who came last in the contest, beams at the camera. Despite her loss, however, the school’s teachers were impressed by May. Rosemary Wain, a science teacher at the time, has said: ‘I do remember standing here and hearing the results declared. And I do remember that after the election, in the staff room, we talked about it, and what a good speech she’d given. She wasn’t the winner, on that day, but she’s the name that I certainly remember.’65

         Six months after her disappointment in the mock election, and still only seventeen years old, Theresa May left Wheatley Park School bound for Oxford University to study Geography. It was time for the vicar’s daughter to spread her wings.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER III

            OXFORD – AND PHILIP

         

         Benazir Bhutto cut quite a figure on campus. Arriving at her women-only college, Lady Margaret Hall, as a twenty-year-old glamorous Harvard graduate in 1973, Bhutto was exotic, beautiful and self-assured. Her father, Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, had recently become Prime Minister of Pakistan, having previously served as its President. Benazir would follow him to Oxford, where he had studied history, and then into politics, her later career proving as turbulent and often blood-soaked as his. While her time in office was marked by great strides forward, particularly for women, allegations of chronic corruption dogged her until she was assassinated in December 2007. Long before she was murdered in a gun and suicide bomb attack as she left a political rally in Rawalpindi, Bhutto faced her first allegations of corruption and accusations of dynastic nepotism 4,000 miles away, amid the ancient quadrants and by-ways of Oxford University in the mid-1970s.

         By the end of her first year at Oxford, Bhutto had set her eye on winning election as president of the Oxford Union, the university’s prestigious debating society. The position changed hands every term, and competition was fierce. Serving as president was seen as a near-certain pathway to power in the real world; past holders of the office in the post-war era included such political giants as Michael Foot, Jeremy Thorpe and Michael Heseltine. While campaigning for the presidency, Bhutto often took to the road, driving around Oxford in what one of her supporters, the future Conservative minister Alan Duncan, has described as a ‘snot-coloured MG’, seeking to drum up votes from fellow members. Another contemporary, the journalist Michael Crick, adds that Bhutto also made a habit of courting those of her classmates she considered up-and-coming future politicians, regardless of their party affiliations, once taking him out to lunch in an (unsuccessful) attempt to win his vote. ‘Some people thought she was using her name and money to buy the presidency,’ he has said.66 Barbara Roche, who would serve as a minister in Tony Blair’s Labour government between 1999 and 2001, was another wooed by Bhutto at this time. And so was a young grammar school girl from rural Oxfordshire called Theresa May.

         May had come to Oxford a year after Bhutto, in October 1974, entering St Hugh’s College, which, like Lady Margaret Hall, accepted only women students. St Hugh’s was established in 1886, and was granted full collegiate status along with the four other women’s colleges in 1959. (The college began to accept male students only in 1986.) Fellow alumni include Aung San Suu Kyi, the Nobel Prize winner and de facto head of state of Myanmar; Barbara Castle, the late Labour Cabinet minister; and the suffragette Emily Dickinson. The first female students to take Firsts at Oxford in English, History, Jurisprudence and Physics all studied at St Hugh’s. May has spoken in the past of how important all-female colleges were to ‘the advancement of women’, in an era when ‘they struggled to assert their place at the male-dominated University’.67 May’s new rooms were less than ten miles from her parents’ home in Wheatley, but her life was now very different. May had always taken her studies seriously. At St Hugh’s, she found herself in the company of similarly minded young women. ‘We weren’t girly,’ one contemporary has said.68 They wore the dark, formal academic dress known as sub fusc to formal dinner, and were treated to wine from the college’s cellars. May’s choice of degree, Geography, was rather less showy than the PPE which many future aspiring politicians studied, but her interest in politics was as keen as ever. She soon joined both the Union and the Oxford University Conservative Association. It was at a disco organised by the latter, thanks to Benazir Bhutto, that May met her future husband, Philip May, the love of her life.

         It was autumn 1976, the start of May’s third and final year at Oxford, and she was by now a fixture on the university’s political scene. In contrast, Philip, two academic years behind her and eleven months younger, was still a relatively unknown freshman. But he had already come to Bhutto’s attention, having won the freshers’ debating competition at the Union. Philip had just turned nineteen, and was studying History at Lincoln College, when he wandered past Bhutto and her quiet friend May as they sat chatting together at the disco. May has described her first encounter with her husband-to-be: ‘It was actually [at] an Oxford University Conservative Association disco, of all the things. I remember I was sitting talking to Benazir and Philip came over, and she said, “Oh, do you know Philip May?” And the rest is history.’69 ‘He was good looking and there was an immediate attraction,’ she added. ‘I think I quite liked him. We were jointly interested in politics. We were meeting at the Conservative Association, so we had some common interests to start off with.’70

         The pair soon found they had a lot in common beyond their politics – including a shared love of cricket. They discussed the fortunes of Geoffrey Boycott and Theresa’s new hero, West Indian fast bowler Tony Gray. And the quietly humorous Philip was able to make Theresa, seen as somewhat serious by some of her Oxford contemporaries, laugh. Damian Green, the future Cabinet minister who knew both Theresa and Philip May at Oxford, has said: ‘Once they became an item, they [were] rock solid.’71

         Like Theresa, Philip had attended a grammar school, Calday Grange in West Kirby on the outskirts of Liverpool, where he had moved as a small boy, having been born in Norfolk. Also like his wife-to-be, Philip’s origins were respectably middle-class: his father, John, worked as a salesman for a shoe wholesaler, while his mother, Joy, was a part-time French teacher. Later on, the senior Mays would take a keen interest in their daughter-in-law’s political achievements, expressing a pride which must have been important to her in the absence of her own parents. It may also have meant a lot to her that, sweetly, John, with his own background in the shoe business, encouraged and was amused by her soon-to-be famous love of fancy footwear. A former neighbour of the couple, Peter Curtis, has described how, in the 1990s, Philip’s parents compiled a scrapbook of newspaper cuttings about their high-flying daughter-in-law. ‘They showed me the scrapbook and at the end of it John started talking about Theresa being the next Prime Minister,’ Curtis has said. ‘At the time I didn’t think she’d ever make it; I’m not sure she was even an MP at the time.’72 When John May died in 2002, his wife moved south to be closer to her son and daughter-in-law. She died in September 2015. Curtis saw Theresa May at a memorial service held in Merseyside in Joy May’s honour in January 2016. Her own parents were obviously on her mind. Curtis has said: ‘We went to the service and Theresa May was serving the teas and coffees. We asked her what she was doing serving the drinks and she said, “I’ve served more teas and coffees than most people, being a vicar’s daughter.”’73

         During her first two years at Oxford, before her encounter with Philip, May did not have a regular boyfriend, although over lunch with the journalist Zoe Brennan, a fellow graduate of St Hugh’s, soon after arriving in Parliament in 1997, she did share ‘some interesting tales … about smuggling men into the college, at a time when boyfriends were still nominally banned from undergraduate rooms’.74 One of May’s closest university friends, Alicia Collinson, has said: ‘Theresa went out with other people. But none of them were quite what she wanted. None of them were special. Then in our final year, Philip came along. There was Philip and nobody else.’75

         Instead of pursuing romantic adventures, May concentrated on her studies and her political activities. While most contemporaries insist that May was good fun, some admit she could come across as rather austere. The vicar’s daughter dutifully continued to attend church on Sundays. There were no drugs and none of the alcohol-fuelled debauches enjoyed by the Bullingdon Club boys David Cameron and Boris Johnson a decade later. Indeed, what jinks there were to be had were somewhat muted. ‘Theresa and I used to love watching The Goodies [a comedy sketch show starring Tim Brooke-Taylor, Graeme Garden and Bill Oddie],’ one university friend has recalled. ‘That was our sense of humour.’76 Pat Frankland, who was at St Hugh’s with May, has said:

         
            She’s got a strong sense of humour, but I don’t think she puts it out in public life. It’s quite a dry wit, her father was the same. I will always remember coming back together from a party and we walked along the top of a wall outside the Ratcliffe [sic] Library together. I wouldn’t say we were drunk. We didn’t get drunk, because we didn’t have the money to go and get drunk. We were slightly merry. We were just in high spirits.77

         

         Like many aspiring politicians who attend Oxford, May began to draw close to a group who would go on to serve alongside her for much of the rest of her political career. Her circle included Alan Duncan and Damian Green, who began dating her St Hugh’s friend Alicia Collinson and whom she would later appoint to her first Cabinet in 2016. Green has said of their time together at Oxford:

         
            I’ve known her since we were both eighteen. Theresa is perfectly good fun. She’s been a friend of mine for more than forty years. The key to Theresa is what you see is what you get. Part of the secret of Theresa’s appeal is that there’s not a secret part of her character that the public doesn’t see. Everyone sees a hard-working, hugely intelligent, hugely conscientious woman, and that’s what she’s like. That’s what she’s always been like. She has no side.78

         

         Green and May met at the Oxford University Conservative Association; he would serve as the club’s president in their final year. The association was an active one. In the real world, the Wilson government was gripped by industrial unrest and spiralling inflation. Safe in their cosy world in Oxford, the student politicians were certain they had the prescription to the turmoil outside. Green has said that his and May’s ‘was a generation that was very much turned against that left-wing nature of the ’60s. We were the next generation up that became Thatcher’s children. In that period when the Labour government was just running into the ground, the Conservative Association was very strong.’79

         Alicia Collinson has said that from her first days at the college, May was overt in her political ambitions. The pair had begun their Oxford life within days of Harold Wilson’s victory in the October 1974 general election, and politics was often a topic of conversation at the college dining table. ‘My memory’s hazy but it was the first term at Oxford in 1974,’ Collinson has said. ‘We were at breakfast and she said something about wanting to be Prime Minister.’80 Pat Frankland too has said that May was always clear about her political aspirations, including her desire to be Prime Minister.

         
            I met her on our first or second day of college, when she was seventeen and I was eighteen. I was aware of that ambition from the very early days. She used to drag me along to political lectures. She wanted to be the first woman Prime Minister back in our Oxford days and she was very irritated when Maggie Thatcher beat her to it. It was just – ‘I wanted to be first and she got there first.’81

         

         Emma Saunders (now Hood), who also joined St Hugh’s in the autumn of 1974, remembers that May was ‘always very focused on going into politics. I remember her saying, “One day I will lead the [Conservative] Party.” Theresa had this steely determination to make the grade at a very senior level in politics.’82 Denise Patterson (née Palmer), who studied Geography with May, has said: ‘Theresa was always interested in politics in a quiet, serious way. She wasn’t a flamboyant character but she had this burning ambition.’83 May’s confident words – which she repeated to many of her friends at St Hugh’s – show the steel of her early ambition. Interestingly, however, they are remarks she seems to have made only to her female contemporaries and Philip, with none of her male Oxford friends recalling any sense in her of a desire to run for the highest office.

         May, Collinson, Patterson and a fourth member of the group, Louise Rowe, were taught political geography by tutor John Patten, who later married Rowe and went on to serve as Education Secretary under John Major. May came to see Patten, whose politics are on the right of the Conservative Party, as something of a mentor, and enjoyed discussing current events with him. While, as always, May worked hard at her studies, she was not considered to be particularly academic compared to some of her peers, and ended up with a Second in her ‘Mods’, the name given at Oxford to the first-year exams.

         As Margaret Thatcher became Leader of the Conservative Party in February 1975, dashing May’s ambitions to become the first woman to hold the post, she stepped up her involvement with the Oxford Union. In the cut-and-thrust, somewhat unreconstructed world of the Union, her quiet manner earned her a reputation as being ‘sweet’ but unlikely to make it to the highest level of politics. Michael Crick has said: ‘Of all the political people at Oxford, she seemed the least likely to succeed.’84 As would often be the case during her later parliamentary career, reports of her speeches focused on her appearance. In one debate, on abortion, she was described as ‘the statuesque Miss Brasier burning with emotion in her red dress’.85 May herself has said that the Union stood her in good stead for Parliament: ‘Having been at Oxford and having the opportunity to debate in the Oxford Union Society is a very good preparation in a sense for the House of Commons, for politics.’86

         If she was not rated as a star of the future by her Union contemporaries, May made more of an impression at Oxford’s second debating club, the slightly less rarefied Edmund Burke Society, where the themes of the debates were more humorous in nature. In her last year at university, she was the club’s president, overseeing proceedings while wielding a meat tenderiser in place of a gavel. Debates were held on Sunday nights in the Morris Room of the Union, and accompanied by liberal amounts of port wine drunk from tiny glasses. Among the light-hearted motions May suggested for debate as president were ‘That this House thanks Heaven for little girls’ and ‘That life’s too short for chess’.

         Rajiva Wijesinha, the future Sri Lankan writer and politician who knew both Philip and Theresa May at Oxford and was a fellow member of the Union and the Edmund Burke Society, has said:

         
            I was very fond of Theresa Brasier at Oxford – she had a lovely sense of humour, vital in the Union – but never imagined that she would be PM. No one spotted any star potential in the fairly quiet blonde girl, but she was a good speaker at the Union and an active member of … the Edmund Burke Society … It would never have occurred to me forty years ago that she would be the most successful in politics of our contemporaries … Theresa laughed at most things in those days, with an equanimity unusual in Union politicians. That was why perhaps she was not really one of the breed, giving way soon to her boyfriend, Philip May. They were an extraordinarily nice couple, far nicer than the other political couples of that time. I did find her mentor, Alicia Collinson, much more fun, along with her boyfriend Damian Green … But Alicia could be sharp when she wanted to be, and could make enemies, whereas Theresa had none.87

         

         Busy with the Union and the Edmund Burke Society, and deeply in love with Philip, May’s last year at Oxford was by far her most enjoyable. She must have felt some pangs of regret when she was forced to leave her happy life behind. But, in May 1977, she graduated with a Second Class degree, at the age of just twenty. While she immediately began working in London’s Threadneedle Street, having been taken on as a graduate trainee at the Bank of England, her heart remained in Oxford, and she travelled back frequently to see Philip and their friends. At the start of his second year, Philip succeeded May as president of the Edmund Burke Society, and he in turn was followed by Damian Green, who next served as president of the Union, in the winter of 1977. During Philip’s tenure, May travelled back to Oxford to oppose the motion ‘Sex is good… but success is better’. Philip, speaking after her, declared he was doing so to ‘deny everything’ she might say on the matter. In the Union, too, Philip continued to play a leading role. He acted as proposer during one debate in June 1978, arguing that the Callaghan government’s ‘industrial strategy will ruin British industry’. At the height of the Winter of Discontent eight months later, he opposed miners’ leader Arthur Scargill on the motion ‘That private enterprise has failed the British economy’. He was seen as lacking a little élan, however. The Oxford University student newspaper Cherwell regularly described his contributions as ‘boring’, and he was dismissed as a ‘man of straw’.88

         The following winter, with Philip entering his final two terms at Oxford, Cherwell ran an item in its gossip column claiming, somewhat snidely, that May had issued him with an ultimatum: marry her or break up, as other hot couples on campus had. ‘I gather the same fate awaits Philip if he hesitates any longer in announcing his intention to make an honest woman of the vicar’s daughter,’ the diary said.89 Whether or not May had indeed issued an ultimatum, by the spring term of 1979, the couple were engaged. She would later describe ‘saying yes when my husband asked me to marry him’ as the most important decision of her life.90 Somewhat unexpectedly, Philip was by now president of the Oxford Union, having emerged victorious from what was (as always with the triannual Union elections) a hard-fought, somewhat murky contest, when some low political skulduggery felled his more fancied opponents.

         The Conservative side of the Oxford Union at the time was divided into factions: the ‘Magdalen set’, based around the college of the same name, and a grouping known as the ‘Dinhamites’ after a former president, Vivien Dinham, who had allegedly been ‘knifed’ by Benazir Bhutto a few years earlier and forced to stand down.91 The Dinhamites included among their number Damian Green and Chanaka Amaratunga, founder of the Sri Lankan Liberal Party before his death in a car crash in 1996. But when the Dinhamites erupted into bitter infighting after Amaratunga unexpectedly switched sides to support Magdalen’s favoured candidate, Alan Duncan, in the winter term of 1979, the various factions were left in chaos and without an obvious candidate for the following term’s contest.

         Much as his wife would be nearly forty years later, once all the fratricidal bloodletting was finished and the bodies were being counted, it was the unassuming, unfactional Philip May who was best placed to come through the middle. He would go on to narrowly beat a Labour candidate for the presidency. Rajiva Wijesinha has said: ‘Philip was the obvious choice. I cannot remember anyone else being elected president with such a near approach to unanimity.’92 Duncan was also impressed. He has described his successor as a ‘steady, logical speaker, sort of undemonstrative, thorough and likeable. [He had] a dry, northern sense of humour, with a wry grin rather than a belly laugh.’93

         Theresa continued to take part in debates during Philip’s tenure, and was elliptically described in a pamphlet listing the events lined up for the term as a ‘presidential aide’.94 Philip tempted some notable big names along to speak at the Union, including the disgraced former US President Richard Nixon. For his farewell debate, he selected the topic of the professionalisation of sport; he and Theresa lined up against Bobby Charlton, the former England football captain, and a young Australian student called Malcolm Turnbull – currently his home country’s Prime Minister.

         Some who encountered the Mays after Oxford are surprised to learn that it was Philip who enjoyed the more glittering university career of the pair – and wonder why he did not seek high political office himself. John Elvidge, who met the couple in the late 1980s, when they were active in their local Conservative Association in Wimbledon, says: ‘Philip was absolutely charming, very self-effacing. It was a long time before I realised that he was president of the Oxford Union, because, presumably deliberately, he had decided to put himself in the background.’ Alan Duncan has suggested that, despite the apparent success of his time as president of the Union, Philip did not feel comfortable in the spotlight. ‘He had a different approach to life. Theresa was prepared to step into the light of public gaze. Philip preferred to be more in the background. It’s as simple as that.’95

         Sandra Burling, who became a friend of the couple at around the time May was seeking selection for a parliamentary seat in the run-up to the 1992 general election, believes that Philip may have tried and failed to win selection himself in the early 1980s. It is a story the MP Keith Simpson also heard. He says:

         
            I remember Damian [Green] telling me years ago that because Philip was very active in university politics, the game plan with her and Philip was going to be that he was the one that was going to [try] to be an MP. They were both going to try for it, but she was going to go into the City [first] and earn the money.

         

         Burling adds:

         
            By the time we met them [in the late 1980s], he was chairman of the local Conservative party and she a local councillor, and the one who got selected. I think he might have gone for selection earlier. They had already decided, I guess, or maybe things had just happened, that that’s the way things were going to be. I think it was something that was already settled.

         

         May herself has denied suggestions that she and Philip struck a ‘deal’ over who would take the more high-profile political career. ‘No, there was no deal at all. I mean, yes, he was president of the Union, he’s politically interested, which is a huge advantage – it means he understands campaigning and things like that. But no, it just happened…’

         Philip graduated from Oxford in May 1979, joining May in the City of London, where he found work at the stockbroking firm de Zoete & Bevan. The following year, in September 1981, the couple were married at St Mary’s Church in Wheatley; Theresa’s father, the Rev. Hubert Brasier, presided over the ceremony. It was a traditional white wedding, with May, a few weeks shy of her twenty-fourth birthday, resplendent in a long, fitted gown and veil and holding a bouquet of red roses. Family and friends from Oxford filled the pews of the church she had worshipped in so many times as a teenager, and where she had listened to countless sermons from her father.

         Shortly before May had left Wheatley for university, her mother Zaidee had begun to develop symptoms of multiple sclerosis, an autoimmune disorder which affects the central nervous system. May has said of her mother’s disease: ‘Multiple sclerosis is one of those things that can plateau for quite a period of time and then the condition can deteriorate. So at the end, and in fact by the time of my wedding to Philip, she was a wheelchair user.’96 The Mays’ wedding photograph shows Zaidee in her wheelchair, dressed in pink, clutching a large hat and smiling at the camera. Hubert, standing beside Theresa and behind his wife, is a stooped figure who looks far older than his sixty-three years. On May’s other side, Philip and his father John wear identical smiles and traditional grey morning dress. Joy May is in yellow. It was one of the last occasions the family would all be together.

         May had been married for just over a year and had turned twenty-five a few days earlier when her tight-knit family circle was torn apart by the death of her beloved father Hubert in a car accident in October 1981. The Rev. Brasier had been driving in his Morris Marina to conduct an Evensong service at a nearby church, St Nicholas’s, in the village of Forest Hill, less than two miles from his home in Wheatley, on the other side of the busy A40 dual carriageway. As he approached the road, which connects Oxford and Gloucester with the M40, he edged his car forward onto the central reservation – and into the path of an oncoming Range Rover which was being driven at seventy miles per hour by Desmond Hampton, a stockbroker from London. Hubert suffered head and spinal injuries and died a few hours later in hospital. Following an inquest, Oxford coroner Nicholas Gardiner ruled his death an accident. An account of the inquest in the local paper at the time described the moments leading up to the fatal collision: ‘I noticed the Marina stationary in the central reservation and it appeared to stay there for quite a bit of time,’ the report quoted Hampton as saying.

         
            It appeared to move slowly and then hesitate. ‘I began braking and tried to get in the left-hand lane,’ [Hampton added]. The Range Rover collided with the front off-side wing of the Marina … Mr Gardiner said it appeared that Mr Brasier had crossed from the slip road and was moving across the A40 in front of the Range Rover. It may have been difficult for Mr Brasier to see the Range Rover approaching head on. He said the crossing had to cope with slow local traffic and long distance fast moving traffic. ‘That’s never a good thing as far as road safety is concerned.’97

         

         Emma Hampton, now Groslin, was in the Range Rover with her father, mother Kitty and sister Vanessa when the crash happened. Describing the accident recently, she said:

         
            We were on our way from Gloucestershire on a dual carriageway back to London after visiting our grandparents. I was asleep in the back of the car with my younger sister and the next thing I knew, I woke up and it had happened. I knew it was a local vicar and he had been on his way to give his last service of the day. I had no idea he was Theresa May’s father … It was an awful event.98

         

         For most of her life, May has been reluctant to speak about her father’s death, even to very close friends, viewing it as a highly private matter. Alicia Collinson did not find out about the accident until some years later, and members of May’s staff confirm that it was a taboo subject.

         Within a few months, at the beginning of 1982, Zaidee too had died, succumbing to her multiple sclerosis. Now May was an orphan, and the small circle that sustained her had shrunk to just one: Philip. It was enough. As the couple drew even closer, they laid down the foundations of a marriage which many of those who have met them have described as one of the strongest in politics. Philip became May’s family; in the absence of both parents and children, all she would have for the rest of her life. While May does have friendships and an extended family of cousins, uncles and aunts, no one else would be particularly close to her until her fifties, when she met her two devoted advisers Nick Timothy and Fiona Hill. May herself credits Philip with getting her through the dark days after Hubert’s and Zaidee’s deaths: ‘I think, crucially, I had huge support in my husband,’ she has said. ‘And that was very important for me. He was a real rock for me. He has been all the time we’ve been married, but particularly then, being faced with the loss of both parents within a relatively short space of time.’99 May still feels the loss of her parents today, telling one interviewer of her regret that they never saw her become Prime Minister. ‘I wish my parents could see it,’ she said. ‘I’ve had a number of letters of congratulations from people that I’ve known over the years and people who’ve known my parents in the past, all of whom have said the same thing: they would be extremely proud of me. I hope they would be.’100
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